STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMAL MARQUIS DANIELS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000135  
\_\_\_\_\_

BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
NOV 19 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial judge erred in overruling appellant's objection to the 911 dispatcher's notes and the recording of the neighbor's call to 911 as inadmissible hearsay?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Horry County grand jury indicted appellant Jamal Marquis Daniels for attempted murder, armed robbery, kidnapping, and first-degree burglary. R. 27, l. 19 – R. 28, l. 24. On April 11, 2016, appellant's case was called for trial before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was tried in his absence. R. 5, l. 2 – 6, l. 24. Nancy Livesay represented the State. R. 1. Buddy Long represented appellant. R. 1. The jury acquitted appellant of kidnapping, first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and attempted murder. R. 373, l. 10 – 374, l. 16. The jury convicted appellant of the lesser included offenses of robbery and first-degree assault and battery. R. 373, l. 10 – 374, l. 16. Appellant's sentence was sealed and on January 18, 2017, Judge Hyman sentenced appellant to concurrent ten year terms of imprisonment on both charges. R. 384, l. 11 – 386, l. 5. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in overruling appellant's objection to the 911 dispatcher's notes and the recording of the neighbor's call to 911 as inadmissible hearsay.

Katrina Daniels and Laura Conklin were drug users who lived together in a condominium. R. 105, l. 25 – 106, l. 14. R. 124, ll. 1 – 11. R. 122, ll. 17 – 22. The pair could not reach their usual drug suppliers, so they drove to an area known as Racepath to buy drugs. R. 106, l. 8 – 107, l. 18. They bought \$100 worth of crack cocaine from a man they called "Polo." R. 106, l. 18 – 107, l. 9. R. 84, l. 21 – 85, l. 19. They had never seen Polo before that afternoon. R. 85, ll. 20 – 22.

The couple smoked their crack cocaine that afternoon and decided they wanted more drugs. R. 107, l. 12 – 108, l. 7. They called Polo and told him they wanted to buy \$400 worth of drugs. R. 85, ll. 10 – 15. They offered to go back to Racepath, but Polo told them he would bring the drugs to their house because it was safer. R. 85, ll. 1 – 9.

The couple let Polo in when he arrived and they went to their bedroom to buy the drugs. R. 86, l. 9 – 87, l. 2. Polo only had \$200 worth of drugs, so the couple bought that amount and Polo left. R. 87, ll. 3 – 17.

Polo called shortly after leaving and told them he found another \$200 worth of drugs in his car and offered to return if they were still interested in buying it. R. 88, ll. 14 – 18. They let Polo back into their house and they again went upstairs to the bedroom. R. 88, l. 14 – 89, l. 5. Polo had the drugs in his hand, but was "fidgeting." R. 89, ll. 10 – 15.

The couple heard a knock on the door. R. 89, ll. 10 – 15. They told Polo no one else was allowed in the house, but Polo ran down the stairs. R. 89, ll. 10 – 25. Polo tried to open the door and Conklin struggled with him to keep it closed. R. 124, l. 12 – 125, l. 11. Polo prevailed and a

masked man with a gun entered the house. R. 124, l. 12 – 125, l. 11. The man shot Conklin in the head and her ears began ringing. R. 125, ll. 7 – 22. The man then hit Daniels, briefly knocking her unconscious. R. 125, l. 25 – 126, l. 4. R. 90, ll. 14 – 20.

When Daniels regained consciousness, the masked man was shaking her by the collar and screaming at her to tell him where she had her money. R. 91, ll. 12 – 17. Polo was similarly shaking and screaming at Conklin. R. 91, ll. 12 – 17. They went upstairs and Conklin told them the money was in her car and gave them the keys. R. 125, l. 5 – 127, l. 9.

Polo went downstairs with the car keys. R. 127, ll. 5 – 9. The masked gunman looked at his phone and then ran down the stairs. R. 127, ll. 10 – 21. The women jumped from their second story bedroom. R. 127, l. 21 – 128, l. 16. They fled to a neighbor's house and he called 911. R. 128, ll. 2 – 16. Daniels eventually identified Polo as appellant in a photo lineup. R. 96, l. 16 – 99, l. 20.

The State's first witness was the 911 operator. R. 67, ll. 6 – 21. The State sought to admit both the 911 recording and the operator's dispatch notes. R. 68, l. 11 – 69, l. 17. Appellant objected on hearsay grounds, but the Court overruled the objection and admitted the call and the notes. R. 69, ll. 7 – 18. When the solicitor began having the witness read from the notes, Judge Hyman excused the jury. R. 70, ll. 4 – 15.

During the *in camera* discussion, appellant again objected on hearsay grounds and argued that the notes were inadmissible because the State did not intend to call the neighbor who telephoned 911 as a witness. R. 72, ll. 4 – 19. The trial judge ultimately admitted the dispatch notes under *res gestae*. R. 75, l. 8 – 77, l. 18.

The trial judge erred in admitting the 911 call and dispatcher's notes. The call and the notes were out of court statements offered for the truth of the matter asserted and should have

been analyzed under the hearsay rules instead of “*res gestae* as explaining the whole story.” R. 76, ll. 5 – 7. See Rule 801(c), SCRE. The solicitor admitted she wanted the notes for the truth of the matter asserted. R. 76, ll. 8 – 15. As appellant argued, no bullet hole, bullet, or shell casing was found and none of the neighbors heard a gunshot. R. 72, ll. 20 – 25. R. 214, l. 13 – 216, l. 9. The solicitor argued the notes were needed to show Conklin and Daniels did not “have time to reflect back and fabricate a story.” R. 76, ll. 8 – 15.

The dispatcher’s notes did not qualify as *res gestae*, but were simply inadmissible hearsay. “In order to qualify as a part of the *res gestae*, a statement must be substantially contemporaneous with the litigated transaction and be the spontaneous utterance of the mind while under the active, immediate influence of the event.” State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 327, 247 S.E.2d 334, 336 (1978). “The rationale for the exception lies in the special reliability accorded to a statement uttered in spontaneous excitement which suspends the declarant’s powers of reflection and fabrication.” Id.

The notes were not statements of the witness. The notes were taken by dispatchers who did not testify and from a call made by a declarant who did not testify—the neighbor. The dispatcher’s statements simply do not qualify as *res gestae*.

In State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 759 S.E.2d 434 (Ct. App. 2014), the Court ruled that statements in a 911 call did not qualify as present sense impression under the hearsay rules. In Hendricks, the victim claimed the defendant, with whom she had a sporadic romantic relationship, brutally raped her. Id. at 528-29, 759 S.E.2d at 436. When the defendant left, the victim went to her mother’s house. Id. at 529-30, 759 S.E.2d at 436-37. The victim’s mother drove her to the hospital and on the way called 911. Id. Over the defendant’s hearsay objection,

the trial judge admitted the mother's call to 911 as a present sense impression and excited utterance. Id.

On appeal, this Court concluded that the mother's statements to the 911 operator were not admissible as either a present sense impression or as an excited utterance. Id. at 532-36, 759 S.E.2d at 438-40. The Court first analyzed admission of the mother's statements under present sense impression. Id.

There are three elements to the foundation for the admission of a hearsay statement as a present sense impression: (1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event.

Id. at 533, 759 S.E.2d at 438. The Court held that the mother's statements concerning her daughter's rape did not qualify because the event was the rape, which the mother—the declarant—did not perceive. Just like in Hendricks, the caller was the neighbor and he did not perceive the events of the alleged crime, Conklin and Daniels did.


The Hendricks Court also found that the mother's statements to the 911 operator did not qualify as an excited utterance. Id. at 533-35, 759 S.E.2d at 438-39. The Court found that the State failed to show the nature of the mother's reaction "was such that it generated the spontaneity that gives an excited utterance its inherent reliability." Id. The State also failed to show that the mother "was still under the required stress of excitement when she actually made her statement." Id. The mother testified in Hendricks and the Court still found the State failed to prove these elements. Id. Here, the neighbor (the declarant) did not testify. Therefore, the State failed to meet its burden as the proponent of the evidence and the trial court erred in admitting the call and the notes.

Furthermore, the hearsay rules specifically prohibit these statements. See Rule 801(d)(1)(B). The State was trying to admit the victim's statement to the neighbor (through two

911 witnesses) as a prior consistent statement to rebut any assertion of fabrication. Id. As stated in the rule, the statement “must have been made before the alleged fabrication, or before the alleged improper influence or motive arose.” Id. The motivation to fabricate, if it existed, certainly existed at the time of the 911 call. Therefore, admission under this rule was prohibited and the court erred in allowing this evidence to go to the jury. This Court should reverse.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse appellant's convictions and remand this case for a new trial.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read 'David Alexander', written over a horizontal line.

David Alexander  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT