**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2017-000135

---

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Jamal Marquis Daniels,

Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 04 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court properly admitted the 911 call and the dispatch notes as neither was inadmissible hearsay.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The trial court properly admitted the 911 call and the dispatch notes as neither was inadmissible hearsay.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the 911 call and the dispatch notes. However, neither the 911 call nor the dispatch notes were inadmissible hearsay. The dispatch notes were a clear business record under Rule 803(6), SCRE. Further, the 911 call was properly admitted as excited utterance and present sense impression exceptions to the hearsay rules under Rules 803(1) and (2), SCRE. Finally, it is highly questionable whether the issue as presented in Appellant's brief is preserved for review on appeal.

#### **Preservation**

Initially, the arguments raised in Appellant's brief are significantly different from the arguments raised at trial, and are therefore not properly preserved for review on appeal. At trial, Appellant initially objected to the 911 recording on the basis of hearsay, but maintained it was hearsay solely because "[w]e need to know whose voice is on the 911 tape before it is submitted into evidence." (R.69).<sup>1</sup> After identifying the parties on the 911 call, the trial court allowed both into evidence. The trial court then raised an initial concern regarding the dispatch notes, believing them to contain subjective impressions of the dispatcher. (R.70-71). Appellant never raised an objection to the notes on this basis.

Prior to playing the 911 recording, Appellant renewed his objection, indicating the statements by the neighbor are hearsay. He explained: "His statements are hearsay at this point, whether or not they come under the business records or not. If he is preparing to testifying [sic],

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant did not appear to object to the dispatch notes, but only raised an objection to the 911 recording. As a result, any issue regarding the dispatch notes is not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005) (to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court).

after he's testified, then it is not hearsay . . . ." (R.72). The trial court indicated the recording could contain present sense impressions and would not be hearsay, and Appellant's counsel agreed. (R.73). Finally, he then asserts the caller is relaying information from the victim and that portion is hearsay. (R.74). This prompts the trial court to review the recording. After review, the trial court concludes the statements by the caller are based on the caller's own observations and are present sense impressions. Appellant fails to offer any argument to the contrary and instead argues:

[T]he reason we challenge, contest, this is that medical staff reported that the head injury may, be consistent with a grazing bullet wound. I don't think we have medical testimony to testify that, yes, there was a bullet wound to the head. Him, making those statements, hearsay statements, on a 911 tape are prejudicial to our later position concerning what the extent of the injuries were.

(R.75). The trial court repeats his decision that he is allowing the recording in under present sense impression and excited utterance. (R.75-76).

For the first time on appeal, Appellant challenges the trial court's ruling that the recording came under the present sense impression or excited utterance exceptions of Rule 803, SCRE. This argument was never presented to the trial court and, as a result, should not be considered on appeal. See e.g., State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) ("For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court."); State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (holding an issue not preserved when one ground is raised to the trial court and another ground is raised on appeal); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

## Merits

Even assuming Appellant's contentions the 911 recording and the dispatch notes are inadmissible hearsay are preserved for review on appeal, both fall under clear exceptions to the hearsay rules. The contents of the dispatch notes were business records and the 911 recording contained permissible present sense impressions or excited utterances such that they were properly admitted and not inadmissible hearsay.

## Dispatch Notes

Hearsay is "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c), SCRE. Generally, hearsay is inadmissible. Rule 802, SCRE. One exception to the hearsay rule is for admission of business records. Rule 803(6), SCRE provides:

A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness; provided, however, that subjective opinions and judgments found in business records are not admissible.

Id. The dispatch log in this case clearly meets the requirements of a business record and its admission was properly supported by the custodian of the log. The dispatch log was a report made as the events it records were unfolding and was kept in the regular course of business for the Support Services Division of the Myrtle Beach Police Department. (R.67; State's Exhibit 3, 388-391).

Further, the log is not hearsay because it was not admitted for the truth of the matters asserted within the log, but instead was admitted to demonstrate the progression of the investigation including arrival times of the officers and steps they undertook in the investigation. As a result, the report does not constitute hearsay under Rule 801(c). Whether admitted as not constituting hearsay or pursuant to the business record exception, the trial court properly admitted the dispatch log.

### **911 Call**

The 911 call also falls under exceptions to the hearsay rule. Two such exceptions are for present sense impression and excited utterance. Pursuant to Rule 803(1), SCRE, a present sense impression is excluded from hearsay and is defined as: "A statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter." *Id.* Further, Rule 803(2), SCRE, indicates an excited utterance is excluded from the hearsay rule and defines it as: "A statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." *Id.*

The 911 call contains the phone call made by the victims' next door neighbor. Much of the recording qualifies as a present sense impression being given by the neighbor. "There are three elements to the foundation for the admission of a hearsay statement as a present sense impression: (1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event." *State v. Hendricks*, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014). In the call, he is reporting events as he witnesses them based on his own personal observations. He describes seeing his neighbor with blood coming from her head. He tells the dispatcher what is

occurring around him. The vast majority of the 911 call recording is of the neighbor's present sense impressions and was admissible under the exception to hearsay found in Rule 803(1).

Additionally, on the 911 call recording you can periodically hear statements being made by the victims. These statements are clearly excited utterances detailing the recent traumatic experience of a robbery and assault and battery that occurred. "Three elements must be met for a statement to be an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and (3) the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition." State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 623, 690 S.E.2d 565, 573 (2010).

The statements on the 911 call recording all relate to the robbery and assault and battery, which certainly qualify as a startling event. As explained in testimony, the victims fled the scene as the robbery occurred and immediately went to their neighbor's. (R.93-94). It was then the neighbor called 911 and the victim's cries, pleas, and explanations can be heard. These statements, which occurred right after fleeing the assailants, met the requirement that they were made while still under the stress of the event. Finally, the 911 call and the comments by the victims were clearly caused and directly related to the startling event. As a result, any statements being made by the victims in the background of the 911 call recording were properly admitted as excited utterances pursuant to Rule 803(2).

Finally, the neighbor is asked several questions by the dispatcher. The neighbor talks to the victim, but only his questions are heard. Ultimately, the neighbor relayed information he received from the victims that the robber was wearing a mask. He does not provide any further information on the 911 call recording regarding the robber's identity or description. The information clearly comes from the victim.

While the information about the mask is arguably hearsay, it's admission entirely harmless. The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) ("No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case."). Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed. State v. Pickens, 320 S.C. 528, 531, 466 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1996).

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991); see also, State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) ("Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained."). "Error without prejudice does not warrant reversal." State v. McWee, 322 S.C. 387, 393, 472 S.E.2d 235, 239 (1996); see also, State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 385, 388 (1947) ("It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him.").

The statement is clearly cumulative. The statement on the 911 call recording is clearly just a relay of information from the victim. The jury understood it was information being relayed by the neighbor from the victim to dispatch. As such, the statement is cumulative to the victims' later testimony that the robber wore a mask. (R.90-91; 115; 125; 143). Further, it is cumulative to evidence presented regarding what was contained in the officer's report. (R.288).

The statement could not have impacted the outcome of the trial as it was immaterial to establishing an identification of the robber and it was merely cumulative to other evidence in the record. See State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence.); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless).<sup>2</sup>

Appellant contends this case is similar to State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014), in which this Court found a 911 call recording inadmissible hearsay and not subject to the present sense impression or excited utterance exceptions. This case is clearly distinguishable from Hendricks. In Hendricks, the victim's mother calls the police some time after learning of her daughter's rape—specifically, the caller waited for the victim to arrive at her house and then put the children to bed before calling 911 after leaving the house to take the daughter to the hospital—and provided information she obtained from the daughter. Id. at 534, 759 S.E.2d at 439.

This Court correctly noted the mother was not providing the 911 dispatch information about an event or condition she perceived, but instead was relaying information regarding the daughter's rape which she did not witness. Id. at 533, 759 S.E.2d at 438. In the instant case, the majority of the 911 call recording is the neighbor explaining what he perceives and understands about the current situation he is witnessing—his neighbor arriving on his balcony seeking help.

Additionally, this Court noted in Hendricks that the mother was no longer under the stress of an emotional situation. She had time to calmly reflect and even assisted in putting

---

<sup>2</sup> It is also important to note that Appellant never moved to redact any portions of the 911 call recording. He sought exclusion of the recording in its entirety. Clearly, the overwhelming majority of the recording fell under an exception to the hearsay rule and it was incumbent on Appellant to seek redaction of any portion not in compliance with Rules 803(1) and (2), SCRE.

children to bed before calling. The call was calm and did not provide the necessary assurance of spontaneity required. In this case, however, the call the neighbor and the statements by the victims in the background of the call clearly exhibit the kind of distress and emotion expected of an excited utterance. A robbery and shooting had just occurred and the victims were in the process of seeking help. The 911 call recording is a classic example of a distressed caller, a chaotic scene, and an intense emotion reaction of which the declarants were still under the resulting stress. The phone call in Hendricks is clearly distinguishable from the call in this case.

The 911 call recording and the statements by the neighbor and the victims included on the recording are clear present sense impressions and excited utterances. As a result, the trial court properly admitted the recording into evidence as it was not inadmissible hearsay. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the decision of the trial court and affirm Appellant's convictions and sentences.

CONCLUSION